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I. BY THE COMMISSION

A. Statement

1. This matter comes before the Commission for consideration of an application for rehearing, reargument, or reconsideration (RRR) to Decision No. C07-0143 (Decision) filed by Daniel Kinney, doing business as Ambassador Tours (Ambassador), on March 7, 2007.
2. Now being duly advised in the matter, we grant the RRR in part consistent with the below discussion.


B.
Background

3. On August 28, 2006 issued a Civil Penalty Assessment Notice or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 80395 to Ambassador.  The CPAN alleged three violations of Rule 6102 of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6, by violating incorporated Rules 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 391.21(a), 49 C.F.R. § 391.25(a), and 49 C.R.R. § 391.45(a).  
4. In Recommended Decision No. R06-1455 (Recommended Decision) the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) concluded that Ambassador violated the cited regulations and assessed a civil penalty of $2,700.

5. In determining the fine amount the ALJ applied Rule 1302(b), 4 CCR 723-1:


“The Commission may impose a civil penalty, where provided by law, after considering evidence concerning the following factors:




(I) The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;




(II) The degree of the respondent’s culpability;




(III) The respondent’s history of prior offenses;




(IV) The respondent’s ability to pay;

(V) Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;




(VI) The effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;




(VII) The size of the business of the respondent; and




(VIII) Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.”
6. The ALJ determined that the fine was the appropriate civil penalty amount to be assessed because it would: (a) deter future violations by Ambassador; (b) motivate Ambassador to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punish Ambassador for past illegal behavior.  In addition the ALJ noted that the significant fine underscores the seriousness of the violations that occurred and the fact that all three violations were repeat violations by Ambassador.
7. Ambassador filed exceptions to the Recommended Decision wherein it requested a waiver or reduction of the civil penalty.  As support for its request, Ambassador stated that while it understands its duty to meet Commission rules, it feels that the penalty would impose an unreasonable hardship due to current financial burdens.    
8. In the Decision, Commissioner Miller agreed that the fine is substantial and that due to Ambassadors financial struggle it would be appropriate to reduce the fine with a warning that this will be the only time a reduction will be allowed.  However, Commissioner Page found that Ambassador’s repeat violations were significant and serious. Commissioner Page stated that because we perform an important health and safety function of guaranteeing that authorized transportation providers operate in a safe manner to protect the traveling public, the full amount of $2,700 should be assessed to deter future violations that could affect the safety of the traveling public.  
9. The effect of the split vote resulted in a “no decision.” As a result of the expiration of the term of Chairman Sopkin, only two Commissioners remained in the interim.  Because the Commissioners could not reach a consensus on the exceptions, the split vote in effect rendered no decision by the Commission.  Since a vote granting or denying the exceptions was not forthcoming because of the impasse, the Commission could not render a decision.  Consequently, the failure of the Commission to reach a consensus on the exceptions constituted a denial by operation of law of the application.  

C.
Discussion and Conclusion

10. In its RRR, Ambassador states that the penalty is greater than its gross income and argues that the fee is unfair taking into consideration its financial difficulties.  Ambassador also notes that it did not understand it would be waiving its right to pay half the amount if it challenged the CPAN.  

11. Although we find that the CPAN is correct in assessing the violations, we will allow Ambassador to pay $1,350.00 (half of the original fine) within ten (10) days of the effective date of this order.  If Ambassador does not pay the $1,350.00 by the specified time, the full amount of $2,700.00 shall become due.  
II. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. The application for rehearing, reargument, or reconsideration to Decision No. C07-0143, filed by Daniel Kinney, doing business as Ambassador Tours (Ambassador), on March 7, 2007 is granted in part consistent with the discussion in Section C above.

2. Ambassador shall pay $1,350.00 within ten (10) days of the effective date of this order.  If Ambassador fails to pay $1,350.00 within in ten days of the effective date of this order, it shall pay the full amount of $2,700.00.

3. Ambassador shall acknowledge its failure to comply with the rules and regulations of the Commission which have been violated as detailed in CPAN No. 80395.  

4. Ambassador shall comply with all rules and regulations of the Commission including those rules which have been violated as detailed in CPAN No. 80395.

5. The 20-day time period provided by § 40-6-114(1), C.R.S., to file an application for rehearing, reargument, or reconsideration shall begin on the first day after the Commission mails or serves this Order.
6. Order is effective upon its Mailed Date.

B. ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS’ WEEKLY MEETING
March 21, 2007.
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